

Surviving a Broken Heart: Psychological and Demographic Factors

BECUE Océane

Work carried out under the Guidance of Angela Leite.

Thesis leading to Degree of Master's in Health Psychology and Neuropsychology.

Variables that contribute to breakup distress.

Gandra, July 2024

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deep gratitude to Ângela LEITE for her invaluable expertise and support throughout the completion of this dissertation. My sincere thanks also extend to CESPU for their invaluable assistance. Additionally, I am profoundly grateful to my family, who have been my unwavering support system, especially my dear parents, Florence and Benoit BECUE, and my beloved brothers, Thomas and Lucas BECUE. I am also thankful to my grandparents, Jean-Mary and Josette GUERINEAU, and to my aunts, Sylvie PASSERON and Agnès RAYNAUD, along with my cousins Alexia and Étienne PASSERON, Maëlys, and Alysson RAYNAUD. Special appreciation goes to my close and cherished friends, including Anaïs PRUNIER, Clara STORERO, Audrey LABERNARDI, Chloé BECKER, and Ana GOMES, for their enduring support and understanding throughout this academic journey.

Declaration of integrity

I, Océane Becue, affirm that I have acted with absolute integrity in the preparation of this work. I confirm that throughout the process, I have not engaged in any form of falsification of results nor resorted to plagiarism, defined as the appropriation, even by omission, of another person's intellectual work, in whole or in part. Furthermore, I certify that all quotations borrowed from other authors have been properly referenced or paraphrased, consistently citing the appropriate bibliographic source.

Abstract

This study investigates the psychological factors influencing post-breakup distress among participants who recently experienced romantic relationship dissolution. The sample predominantly consisted of women, reflecting a common trend in relationship research, with diverse age groups ranging from 18 to 68 years. Key demographic factors, including age and marital status, were analyzed in relation to distress levels, revealing higher distress among older individuals and those not currently in relationships. Psychological variables such as selfexpansion, attachment styles (anxiety and avoidance), attitudes towards infidelity, and the inclusion of the partner in the self-concept were examined. Findings indicated that selfexpansion within the relationship was associated with increased post-breakup distress, contrary to previous research suggesting self-expansion generally promotes emotional resilience. Attachment styles, particularly anxiety and avoidance, were linked to higher levels of distress, while attitudes towards infidelity did not show significant correlations with distress levels. Additionally, individuals who perceived their partner as integral to their self-concept experienced greater emotional challenges post-breakup. The role of the breakup initiator also emerged as a significant factor, with those whose partner initiated the breakup reporting higher distress levels. These results highlight the complex interplay between psychological factors and emotional responses to breakup and suggest directions for future research.

Keywords: Breakup distress, relationship dissolution, emotional responses, self-expansion, attachment styles, inclusion of the other in the self, gender differences, relationship initiation, infidelity attitudes, psychological adjustment, breakup initiator.

Table of Contents

Sı	urviving a Broken Heart: Psychological and Demographic Factors	1
	Acknowledgements	2
	Declaration of integrity	2
	Abstract	3
	Introduction	5
	Literature review	5
	breakup distress	5
	Self-expansion	7
	Experience in Close Relationships	8
	Attitude toward infidelity	. 10
	Inclusion of other in the self	. 12
	Links between concepts	. 14
	Methodology	. 15
	Participants	. 15
	Measures	. 15
	Procedure	. 17
	Data Analysis	. 17
	Results	. 18
	Items description	. 19
	Correlations	. 22
	Discussion	. 29
	Limitations	. 35
	Conclusion	. 36
	Rihlingranhy	36

Introduction

According to the research conducted by Low et al. (2012), Shulman et al. (2017), and Sprecher et al. (1998), breakups are considered to be one of the most stressful and traumatic experiences during early adulthood. After a breakup, individuals may go through different phases of grief due to the loss of a significant intimate relationship (Harvey & Miller, 2000; Aragón & Cruz, 2014; Tashiro & Frazier, 2003). Post-breakup distress, which refers to the emotional and psychological distress experienced after the dissolution of a romantic relationship, is characterized by intense feelings of loss and persistent intrusive thoughts (Field et al., 2009). The purpose of this study is to examine the possible factors in relation to distress after a breakup, Specifically, the attachment style, self-expansion in the other, attitude towards infidelity, and inclusion of the other in the self.

Literature review

breakup distress

Post-breakup distress has been associated with adverse effects on mental health. Specifically, it increases the likelihood of developing mood disorders such as depression or anxiety (Bronfman et al., 2016; Field, 2011, 2017; Lukacs & Quan-Haase, 2015; Low et al., 2012; Rhoades et al., 2011; Sailor, 2013; Shulman et al., 2017). It is also linked to reduced self-esteem, decreased overall well-being, and physiological repercussions such as "broken heart syndrome," which manifests with symptoms similar to a heart attack (Coifman & Bonanno, 2010; del Palacio-González et al., 2016; Field, 2017; Mirsu-Paun & Oliver, 2017; Sailor, 2013).

Post-breakup distress is a type of unpleasant stress that has negative psychological and physiological repercussions. Stress is a natural psychophysiological response of human beings

two types of stress: eustress, which is considered positive as it promotes adaptation and effective management of demands, and distress, which is an unpleasant type of stress due to its negative psychological and physiological effects (Myers, 2011; Oblitas, 2010). It is important to distinguish post-breakup distress from the grieving process that occurs after a loss. While grief is a natural process that involves different stages and can be experienced following various types of losses, post-breakup distress corresponds to complicated grief, characterized by intense feelings of loss and persistent intrusive thoughts (Field et al., 2009).

Several factors influence post-breakup distress, such as the duration and satisfaction of the relationship, the unexpectedness of the breakup, the time elapsed since the breakup, as well as personal characteristics like personality, attachment style, and self-esteem. The attributions made about the end of the relationship also have an impact on distress, with external attributions being associated with greater distress (Field, 2017; Rhoades et al., 2011; Tashiro & Frazier, 2003). Among these factors, the initiator status is particularly relevant. In the case of a breakup, non-initiators often experience higher levels of post-breakup distress, feeling rejected on an emotional level (Field, 2011, 2017; Field et al., 2009; Leary, 2001; Perilloux & Buss, 2008). Rejection can generate negative feelings, low self-esteem, and even activate threat-related brain responses (Rohner, 2016; Fisher et al., 2010). Rejection can also lead to increased hostility and aggression, while rejected individuals experience heightened distress and dissatisfaction in their lives (Mirsu-Paun & Oliver, 2017; Leary et al., 2006; Sinclair et al., 2011; Romero-Canyas et al., 2010). The time elapsed since the breakup is a key variable in post-breakup distress and is examined from two perspectives. On one hand, studies show an inverse relationship between the time elapsed since the breakup and post-breakup distress, with higher distress observed when less time has passed since the breakup (Knox et al., 2000). On the other hand, retrospective memories of post-breakup distress remain relatively accurate, even after a long period, suggesting the absence of memory biases (Brennan et al., 2006).

Research on gender differences in post-breakup distress is limited, but existing studies yield contradictory results. Some studies find no correlation between gender and post-breakup distress, while others suggest that women may experience greater distress than men, or vice versa. Women tend to be more prone to rumination and depression, particularly in interpersonal stress situations, while men's short-term reproductive strategy may facilitate their ability to move on (Field et al., 2017; Marshall et al., 2013; Perilloux & Buss, 2008; Rhoades et al., 2011).

Self-expansion

Over the years, research on relationship well-being has identified various factors contributing to it, among which self-expansion has been extensively studied in the literature on couples (Caughlin & Huston, 2006; Fincham & Beach, 2010; Gordon & Baucom, 2009). According to the work of Arthur Aron and colleagues, self-expansion is a dyadic process that involves "the inclusion of the other in the self" (Aron & Aron, 1996; Aron et al., 1998; Aron et al., 2004). According to the theory of self-expansion, in the context of romantic relationships, self-expansion occurs when the partner offers new experiences, such as discovering new places, making new friends, engaging in new activities, and when they share their financial and social resources. These new experiences and resources become integrated into the individual's self-concept, thereby enhancing the sense of self-expansion (Aron et al., 2013).

In general, self-expansion refers to the acquisition of resources that help an individual achieve their future goals (Aron et al., 1998). At the beginning of a romantic relationship, each partner benefits from the resources of the other (such as financial resources, knowledge,

intellectual perspectives, etc.) and incorporates them into themselves. This initial phase is often perceived as exciting and is associated with a high level of relationship satisfaction. Laboratory studies have shown that engaging in self-expanding activities together leads to an immediate increase in relationship satisfaction (Aron et al., 2000; Reissman et al., 1993).

Previous research has conceptualized self-expansion as involving novelty and excitement. Studies on self-expansion initially started in the domain of romantic relationships and have since expanded to other relational contexts such as initial attraction, the beginning of a new relationship, the maintenance of an ongoing relationship, and relationship dissolution (Aron et al., 2013; Mattingly & Lewandowski, 2014). For instance, the experience of falling in love is considered to involve rapid self-expansion as it provides numerous opportunities to discover new experiences and broaden the self-concept. Studies have demonstrated that self-concept, self-esteem, and perceived self-efficacy increase rapidly after the onset of a romantic relationship (Aron, Paris & Aron, 1995).

Experience in Close Relationships

The attachment theory, developed by Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters, and Wall (1978) as well as Bowlby (1969), proposes that early interactions between infants and their caregivers influence the development of an internal working model of attachment. According to Mikulincer and Shaver (2016), this internal working model consists of mental schemas that influence interpersonal relationships, self-concept, and emotion regulation. Hazan and Shaver (1987) and Shaver and Clark (1994) have emphasized the extension of this theory to adulthood and romantic relationships.

The quality of an individual's attachment internal working models (IWMs) is influenced by interactions with caregivers and genetic factors, according to Mikulincer and Shaver (2016). IWMs, which are relatively stable cognitive-affective schemas, influence how individuals interpret the present, evaluate new situations, plan future actions, and regulate their emotions (Waters et al., 2000). These IWMs also influence self-concept, stress coping strategies, and expectations regarding future attachment relationships, particularly in stressful or threatening situations (Ainsworth et al., 1978; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2016; Simpson & Rholes, 2017; Eisenman, 2006).

Mikulincer and Shaver (2016) explain that individuals who have experienced consistent and sensitive parental support during childhood will develop a secure attachment style. This attachment style is characterized by positive IWMs of both self and attachment figures, positive self-esteem, and good relational skills. On the other hand, individuals who have experienced harmful interactions with inconsistent and unresponsive caregivers will develop an insecure attachment. This type of attachment can be divided into two main dimensions: attachment avoidance and attachment anxiety (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Brennan et al., 1998).

Individuals with an avoidant attachment tend to fear intimacy and prefer maintaining independence and emotional control. They suppress their emotions and limit their emotional experiences in romantic relationships and daily life. Individuals with an anxious attachment struggle to trust others and regulate their negative emotions. They feel anxiously entangled in their relationships, frequently fearing abandonment or rejection and seeking emotional closeness with their partners for security (Mikulincer, 1995).

Research indicates that both dimensions of insecure attachment are associated with issues such as psychological and marital distress, poor mental health and well-being, the use of

maladaptive coping strategies, disrupted physiological responses to stress, risky health behaviors, and increased vulnerability to physical illnesses (DiFilippo et al., 2000; Donarelli et al., 2016; Feeney et al., 2019; Karreman & Vingerhoets, 2012; Mikulincer & Shaver, 2012; Pietromonaco & Beck, 2019; Rosenstein & Horowitz, 1996; Simpson & Rholes, 2018).

Attitude toward infidelity

Infidelity is a complex concept, and its definition does not rely on universally accepted criteria. According to Blow and Hartnett (2005), various behaviors can be considered unacceptable within the context of an intimate relationship, taking into account cultural and social factors. For example, some individuals may consider simply having lunch or coffee with someone other than their partner as a form of infidelity. Pittman (1989) defines infidelity as a behavior that results in the loss of the partner's trust in the relationship or the violation of an established agreement within the couple.

Infidelity can be classified into two distinct types: sexual infidelity and emotional infidelity. Sexual infidelity refers to behaviors involving physical contact with someone other than one's partner, while emotional infidelity concerns the development of emotional bonds with someone other than one's partner (Harris, 2004).

Currently, infidelity is regarded as harmful and a significant issue in couples therapy (Johnson, 2005). It is also a leading cause of many divorces (Brand et al., 2007; Wiederman, 1997). Attitudes toward extramarital sex play a significant role in predicting the likelihood of engaging in such relationships, as individual beliefs and values can either encourage or discourage infidelity (Treas & Giesen, 2000; Glass & Wright, 1992; Thompson, 1984; Buunk & Bakker, 1995).

Gender plays an essential role as a factor influencing beliefs and values regarding infidelity, in addition to acting as an initiating factor (Byers, 1996; Zilbergeld, 1999). Generally, men have a more positive attitude toward extramarital relationships and are more likely to engage in them than women (Petersen & Hyde, 2010). Moreover, men with a more favorable attitude toward infidelity are more prone to engaging in such relationships (Thompson, 1984; Lieberman, 1988). Therefore, men tend to view infidelity as normal or at least acceptable. From an evolutionary perspective, there are differences in concerns related to infidelity between men and women. According to Miller and Maner (2009), women are primarily concerned with the security of commitment and resources provided by their partner, as it contributes to the upbringing of their children. Consequently, they are particularly sensitive to emotional infidelity, which jeopardizes the stability of a long-term relationship (Wilson et al., 2011). They fear that their partner may develop intense emotional bonds with another person, compromising the relationship's stability and the available resources for them and their children.

On the other hand, sexual infidelity holds particular importance for men. According to Buss et al. (1992), this is because sexual infidelity can increase uncertainty about paternity. Men are biologically concerned with transmitting their own genes and ensuring that the resources they invest are directed toward their biological offspring. Thus, sexual infidelity poses a threat to their evolutionary goal of maximizing reproductive opportunities by raising their own biological child. The fear of sexual infidelity is linked to this paternal uncertainty and potential consequences such as allocating resources to a child who is not biologically theirs. Additionally, men are more inclined to engage in affairs of a sexual nature, while women tend to be more involved in affairs of an emotional nature (Silva et al., 2017).

In women as well, a more relaxed attitude toward sexuality is the best predictor of infidelity (Hansen, 1987). Education can also influence infidelity, although findings in this area are contradictory. Some studies indicate that infidelity is more prevalent among less educated individuals (Smith, 1994), while others report a higher prevalence of infidelity among educated individuals (Atkins et al., 2001). Forste and Tanfer (1996) also found that higher education can indicate more liberal sexual attitudes. For example, women with a higher level of education than their partner are 3.6 times more likely to engage in extramarital relationships (Forste & Tanfer, 1996). It is important to note that age alone is not sufficient to explain differences in attitudes toward infidelity. Instead, it can be considered a mediating factor, meaning it can indirectly influence attitudes toward infidelity by interacting with other variables (Habibi et al., 2019).

Research conducted by Atkins et al. (2001) as well as Previti and Amato revealed that individuals who are less satisfied with their marital relationship are more inclined to consider infidelity. Sexual satisfaction is one of the key factors in preserving and maintaining a marital relationship, and when these factors are compromised within a relationship, a person may feel less committed to it and thus be more inclined to seek infidelity (Whitty, 2003).

Inclusion of other in the self

The formation of enduring couples in romantic relationships relies on the psychological process of connecting with a specific partner, where the Inclusion of Other in the Self (IOS) plays a key role. IOS is manifested through the fusion of self and other's cognitive constructs, which expands the sense of personal efficacy. Several predictors of IOS have been identified,

such as progressive self-disclosure, engaging in exciting activities together, and inducing positive emotions.

Progressive self-disclosure with a stranger has been shown as a powerful mechanism to promote IOS, where gradual sharing of personal information leads to greater emotional closeness (Aron et al., 1997). Additionally, engaging in exciting activities in the early years of marriage predicts long-term satisfaction, with IOS playing a mediating role (Tsapelas et al., 2009). Inducing positive emotions has also been associated with increased IOS with close friends (Waugh & Fredrickson, 2006).

Other studies have examined the effects of including the other in the self using the "me/not-me" paradigm (Aron et al., 1991; Mashek & Aron, 2004). When the other person is included in the self, there is a tendency to slow down the processing of information related to a specific trait if the other person differs on that trait. Confusions between self and close others were more frequent than confusions between self and non-close individuals in adjective recall tasks (Aron et al., 1991; Mashek & Aron, 2004).

In couple relationships, the inclusion of the other in the self is manifested through the integration of the partner's physical attributes into the self-perception, reducing the perception of physical constraint (Aron et al., 1991; Mashek & Aron, 2004). Moreover, individuals process physical pain experienced by themselves and their partner in the same way but differently when it comes to a stranger (Aron et al., 1991; Mashek & Aron, 2004). The success of a close other is celebrated rather than perceived as a threat (Aron et al., 1991; Mashek & Aron, 2004). Optimal levels of relational well-being and mental health are observed when the discrepancy between the actual and ideal inclusion of the other in the self is minimal (Martire et al., 2013).

Links between concepts

Attachment, according to Baucom et al. (2006), plays a crucial role in how individuals react after a breakup. Anxiously attached individuals tend to engage in ruminative thoughts about the breakup, which makes psychological adaptation after the separation more difficult (Davis et al., 2003; Marshall et al., 2013; Saffrey & Ehrenberg, 2007). Additionally, Gordon and Baucom (1998, 1999) highlighted that individuals with insecure attachment tend to experience more emotional distress, anger, sadness, and mistrust following the dissolution of a romantic relationship or the discovery of infidelity.

Self-expansion can also play a role in emotional distress after a breakup. According to Aron et al. (2004), self-expansion refers to the ability to find new sources of self-expansion, such as a new partner who can fulfill the desire for self-expansion. Studies have shown that when individuals move away from the breakup or find a new partner, they experience a weaker perceived interconnectedness and a reduced need to use the former partner as a source of self-expansion (Boelen et al., 2006). Thus, self-expansion can contribute to alleviating emotional distress after the breakup (Boelen & Van Den Hout, 2010).

Attitudes toward infidelity are another important factor. Lusterman (2005) emphasized that individuals involved in relationships marked by infidelity may exhibit symptoms of emotional distress, anxiety, and depression, which can be related to attachment issues. According to Baucom et al. (2006), individuals with insecure attachment, such as avoidant or anxious attachment types, are more likely to engage in infidelity behaviors to fulfill their unmet emotional needs.

Individuals experiencing high levels of emotional distress after a romantic breakup may exhibit compromising health behaviors, such as decreased academic performance, increased alcohol consumption, disorganized behaviors, etc. (Field et al., 2013). When someone becomes a victim of infidelity, it can also lead to behavioral consequences such as difficulties sleeping, decreased appetite, increased alcohol and marijuana consumption, as well as engaging in risky sexual behaviors (Shrout & Weigel, 2018).

Lastly, the inclusion of the other in the self is a crucial aspect to consider. A strong perceived interconnectedness between the self and the former partner is associated with more intense symptoms such as longing for the ex-partner and difficulties accepting the end of the relationship (Boelen, 2009; Maccallum & Bryant, 2008). Therefore, maintaining a strong psychological bond with the former partner, where the inclusion of the other in the self is significant, is associated with more severe distress after the breakup (Boelen & Van Den Hout, 2010).

Methodology

Participants

The sample comprised 225 English-speaking individuals (N = 225) aged 18 to 68 years (M = 34, SD = 11.5) who had experienced a romantic breakup within the past five years. Participants were recruited via online advertisements, social media platforms, primarily Facebook, and other social networks. The majority of participants were women (n = 168, 74.7%).

Measures

Demographic Information: Participants reported their age, gender, marital status, and education level.

Breakup Distress: The Breakup Distress Scale (Field, Delgado, et al., 2009) was used to assess emotional distress following a breakup. This scale includes 16 items rated on a 4-point Likert scale, where higher scores indicate greater distress. The BDS has demonstrated high reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = .91$) and good construct validity in previous research (Field, Delgado, et al., 2009).

Self-Expansion: The Self-Expansion Questionnaire (Aron et al., 2002) measured the extent to which participants perceived their relationship as contributing to personal growth and new experiences. It consists of 7 items rated on a scale from 1 (least agreement) to 7 (most agreement), with an alpha reliability of 0.87, indicating strong internal consistency among the items. This instrument has been widely used in research to assess how individuals perceive their relationships in terms of enhancing personal development and experiencing new aspects of life (Paolini et al., 2016; Ketay et al., 2020).

Attachment Styles: Attachment anxiety and avoidance were assessed using the Experiences in Close Relationships-12 (Lafontaine et al., 2016) questionnaire. This scale includes 12 items rated on a 7-point Likert scale. The ECR-12 has demonstrated excellent reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = .87$ for anxiety, .83 for avoidance) and strong validity across different populations (Tasca et al., 2017).

Attitudes Towards Infodelity: Infidelity: The Attitudes towards Infidelity Scale (ATIS), developed by Whatley in 2006, explores individuals' thoughts and feelings regarding infidelity-related matters. This scale was utilized to assess personal attitudes and levels of acceptance toward infidelity. The questionnaire included 12 statements concerning infidelity. An example statement used is "Infidelity is morally wrong in all circumstances regardless of the situation."

Each item was ranked on a 7-point Likert scale (1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Somewhat Disagree, 4=Neutral, 5=Somewhat Agree, 6=Agree, 7=Strongly Agree). The ATIS has shown good internal consistency (Cronbach's α = .85) and has been validated in various studies (Hackathorn et al., 2011; Jackman, 2014; Habibi et al., 2019)

Inclusion of the Other in the Self (IOS): The IOS scale (Aron, Aron, & Smollan, 1992) measured the degree to which participants included their partner in their self-concept. This is a single-item pictorial measure. The IOS has demonstrated good validity and reliability in previous research (Gächter et al., 2015).

Procedure

Participants completed an online survey hosted on Google Forms. They were provided with informed consent forms, assured anonymity, and stated that participation was voluntary. The survey included demographic variables (age, gender, marital status, education level) and the following questionnaires: BDS, SEQ, ECR-12, ATIS, and IOS. The completion of the survey took around 10 to 15 minutes.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 27). Descriptive statistics were calculated for demographic variables and primary measures. Pearson correlation coefficients were computed to examine relationships between demographic variables (age, education level) and post-breakup distress, as well as between the psychological variables (IOS, SEQ, ECR, ATIS) and post-breakup distress.

To explore differences based on who initiated the breakup, participants were categorized into three groups: self-initiated, partner-initiated, and mutually initiated breakups. T-tests were

used to compare scores between men and women, while an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to assess differences in scores based on who ended the relationship.

Results

This study included a total of 225 participants, with 168 women (74.7%) ranging in age from 16 to 68 years (M = 0.82, SD = 0.16). Most participants (178 or 79.1%) were not in a relationship, being single, separated, divorced, or widowed. Less than a quarter (47 or 20.9%) were in a romantic relationship, married, or cohabitating. Regarding sexual orientation, the majority identified as heterosexual (178 or 79.1%), while 29 (12.9%) identified as bisexual, 9 (4%) as homosexual, 1 (0.4%) with another orientation, and 8 (3.6%) preferred not to disclose their orientation (Table 1).

Concerning the end of their relationships, most participants (133 or 59.1%) reported they had made the decision to end it. In 56 cases (24%), the partner initiated the breakup, and in 36 cases (16%), the decision was mutual. For 66 participants (29.3%), the relationship ended less than 3 months ago, while for 55 participants (24.4%), it ended less than 3 years ago. Additionally, 36 participants each (16%) reported their relationship ended less than 6 months ago or more than 3 years ago. Only 32 participants (14.2%) stated their relationship ended less than a year ago. In terms of starting a new relationship after the breakup, 155 participants (68.9%) had not started another relationship. Among those who had, 19 participants (8.3%) started a new relationship within less than 3 months, 15 participants (6.7%) within less than 6 months, 16 participants (7.1%) within less than a year, 15 participants (6.7%) within less than 3 years, and 5 participants (2%) after more than 3 years (Table 1).

Table 1Descriptive measures of the sample's sociodemographic variables.

	Variables		
Age (years; 18 – 59)		M=34,02	SD=12,08

Education (years; 5 – 22)	M=14,79	SD=2,32
	n	%
Sex		
Male	57	25.3
Female	168	74.7
Marital status		
No Relationship/Single/Separated/Divorced/Widowed.	178	79.1
In a loving relationship/married/cohabitating	47	20.9
Sexual Orientation		
Heterosexual	178	79.1
Bisexual	29	12,9
Homosexual	9	4
I do not want to reveal	8	3.6
Other	1	0.4
How long has the relationship been over		
Less than 3 months	66	29.3
Less than 6 months	36	16
Less than a year	32	14.2
Less than 3 years	55	24.4
More than 3 years	36	16
When did a new relationship start		
I did not start another relationship	155	68.9
Less than 3 months	19	8.3
Less than 6 months	15	6.7
Less than a year	16	7.1
Less than 3 years	15	6.7
More than 3 years	5	2.2

Note: M = mean; SD = standard deviation; % = percentage

Items description

Concerning the items of the instruments used in this study, the results obtained from the questionnaire showed that all variables exhibit a normal distribution, as confirmed by the kurtosis values (*SD* below 1) and Skewness (below 2). Except for all ATIS that presents higher values of kurtosis and skewness (Table 2).

For the BDS questionnaire, which employs a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 4 (1 being the least agreement and 4 the most agreement), item 8, "Since the breakup, I feel like I have lost the ability to take care of others or to be separate from the people I take care of," has the highest mean (M = 2.91; SD = 1.15), indicating that participants most strongly agree with this 19

statement. Conversely, item 10, "I have been experiencing pain since the breakup," has the lowest mean (M = 2.17; SD = 1.07), suggesting that participants are least in agreement with this statement. Item 4, "I feel drawn to places and things associated with the person," has a mean of M = 2.50 (SD = 1.10), indicating that participants moderately agree with this statement (Table 2).

The SEQ questionnaire, using a Likert scale from 1 to 7 (1 being the least agreement and 7 the most agreement), presents different results. Item 1, "To what extent has being with this partner allowed you to experience new things?" has the highest mean (M = 4.75; SD = 1.74), indicating strong agreement among participants. In contrast, item 4, "How much did being with your partner make you more appealing to potential future mates?" has the lowest mean (M = 3.80; SD = 1.79), suggesting lower agreement among participants with this statement (Table 2).

Regarding the ECRQ-12 questionnaire, using a Likert scale from 1 to 7 (1 being the least agreement and 7 the most agreement), item 4, "I don't mind asking romantic partners for comfort, advice, or help", has the highest mean (M = 5.33; SD = 1.62), signaling strong agreement among participants, following item 2 "I am used to discussing my problems and concerns with my partner," (M = 5.32; SD = 1.91). Conversely, item 5, "I don't feel comfortable opening to romantic partners," has the lowest mean (M = 3.20; SD = 1.83), indicating lower agreement among participants with this statement (Table 2).

For the ATI questionnaire, using a Likert scale from 1 to 5 (1 being the least agreement and 5 the most agreement), item 1, "Cheating on my partner is morally wrong," has the highest mean (M = 4.68; SD = 0.77), indicating strong agreement among participants. In contrast, item 5, "I would cheat on my romantic partner if I had the opportunity," has the lowest mean (M = 1.32; SD = 0.81), signaling lower agreement among participants with this statement (Table 2).

As for the IOS questionnaire, with a Likert scale from 1 to 7 (1 representing less overlap and 7 the most overlap), the item with a mean of 3.63 indicates that most participants have an equal overlap with their partner (Table 2).

Table 2Descriptive measures of psychological assessment instruments.

	M	SD	Skewness (SD =	Kurtosis (SD =
			0.16)	0.32)
Breakup Di	stress Scale (1-	4)	,	,
BDS1	2.50	1.15	0.01	-1.43
BDS2	2.89	1.05	-0.46	-1.05
BDS3	2.52	1.19	-0.06	-1.52
BDS4	2.17	1.07	0.38	-1.14
BDS5	2.60	1.11	-0.12	-1.32
BDS6	2.83	1.15	-0.39	-1.34
BDS7	2.74	1.17	-0.29	-1.42
BDS8	2.79	1.14	-0.38	-1.29
BDS9	2.28	1.15	-0.22	-1.41
BDS10	2.91	1.15	-0.56	-1.16
BDS11	2.49	1.12	0.10	-1.37
BDS12	2.40	1.19	0.12	-1.51
BDS13	2.53	1.15	-0.05	-1.44
BDS14	2.23	1.27	0.37	-1.57
BDS15	2.74	1.16	-0.29	-1.39
BDS16	2.58	1.20	-0.09	-1.54
Self-Expans	sion Questionna	aire (1 - 7)		
SEQ1	4.75	1.74	-0.75	-0.21
SEQ2	4.60	1.63	-0.53	-0.37
SEQ3	4.23	1.82	-0.34	-0.93
SEQ4	3.80	1.79	0.03	-0.88
SEQ5	4.40	1.89	-0.36	-0.92
SEQ6	4.40	1.82	-0.25	-0.94
SEQ7	4.61	1.72	-0.56	-0.58
SEQ8	4.36	1.92	-0.30	-1.07
SEQ9	4.20	1.91	-0.14	-1.11
SEQ10	4.23	1.91	-0.19	-1.06
SEQ11	4.41	1.91	-0.29	-1.08
SEQ12	4.16	1.96	-0.18	-1.09
SEQ13	4.60	1.77	0.17	-0.86
SEQ14	4.16	1.91	-0.25	-1.09
Experience	s in Close Relat	tionships Ques	tionnaire $(1-7)$)

ECR1	4.24	1.90	-0.30	-1.13				
ECR2	5.32	1.91	-1.24	1.03				
ECR3	5.28	1.56	-0.98	0.18				
ECR4	5.33	1.62	-1.19	0.78				
ECR5	3.20	1.83	0.49	-0.92				
ECR6	5.15	1.73	-0.95	-0.03				
ECR7	5.27	1.79	-0.94	-0.08				
ECR8	5.12	1.83	-0.71	-0.60				
ECR9	5.20	1.91	-0.93	-0.29				
ECR10	5.06	1.97	-0.76	-0.67				
ECR11	5.20	1.78	-0.87	-0.20				
ECR12	4.65	1.83	-0.52	-0.75				
Attitudes To	oward Infideli	ty (1-5)						
ATI1	4.68	0.77	-3.04	9.93				
ATI2	1.52	1.02	2.11	3.71				
ATI3	4.67	0.76	-3.02	10.44				
ATI4	1.34	0.87	2.79	7.34				
ATI5	1.32	0.81	2.78	7.57				
Inclusion of	Inclusion of Other in the Self Scale (1-7)							
IOS	3.63	1.79	0.19	-0.84				

Note: M = mean; SD = standard deviation

Correlations

Concerning the correlation between variables, a positive and significant correlation was found between the variable "Age" and the BDS total scale (r(225) = .13, p = .047). Conversely, a negative correlation was observed between the variable "Age" and the ECR total scale (r(225) = .18, p = .007). No significant correlations were found between age and the SEQ, ATIS, and IOS variables (Table 3).

 Table 3

 Correlations between age and the variables

	Age
BDS_Total	.133* (p = .047)
SEQ_Total	.004 (p = .950)
ECR_Total	179**(p = .007)

ATIS_Total
$$-.005 (p = .942)$$
IOS_Total IOS1 $-.017(p = .797)$

Furthermore, a negative correlation emerged between the variable "Education" and the BDS total scale (r(225) = -.175, p = .009). No significant correlations were noted between "Education" and SEQ, ECR, ATIS, or IOS. Additionally, no significant correlations were observed between "Education" and SEQ (r(225) = .012, p = .862), ECR (r(225) = .021, p = .754), ATIS (r(225) = .064, p = .342), or IOS (r(225) = .036, p = .590) (Table 4).

Table 4Correlations between education and the variables

	Education
BDS_Total	175**(p = .009)
SEQ_Total	.012(p = .862)
ECR_Total	021(p = .754)
ATIS_Total	.064 (p = .342)
IOS_TOTAL IOS1	.036 (p = .590)

^{**} Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

In addition, a negative correlation was identified between the variable "New relationship" and BDS (r(225) = -.327, p = .000). Negative correlations were also found between "New relationship" and ECR (r(225) = -.254, p = .000), as well as between "New relationship" and IOS (r(225) = -.199, p = .003). No significant correlation was found between "New relationship" and SEQ or ATIS (Table 5).

Table 5

^{**} The correlation is significant at the 0.01 level Sig. (2-tailed).

^{*} The correlation is significant at the 0.05 level Sig (2-tailed).

^{*} Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Correlations between new relationship and the variables

	New relationship
BDS_Total	327**(p = .000)
SEQ_Total	098(p = .144)
ECR_Total	254**(p = .000)
ATIS_Total	.102 (p = .127)
IOS_TOTAL IOS1	199**(p = .003)

^{**} Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Additionally, a negative correlation was identified between the length of time since the breakup and BDS_Total (r(225) = -.406, p < .001). A negative correlation was also found between the length of time since the breakup and SEQ_Total (r(225) = -.189, p = .004), as well as between the length of time since the breakup and ECR_Total (r(225) = -.220, p < .001). Furthermore, a negative correlation was observed between the length of time since the breakup and IOS_Total (r(225) = -.189, p = .004). No significant correlation was found between the length of time since the breakup and ATIS_Total (r(225) = .054, p = .417) (Table 6).

Table 6Correlations between past relationship and the variables

	Past relationship
BDS_Total	406**(p = .000)
SEQ_Total	189**(p = .004)
ECR_Total	220**(p = .001)
ATIS_Total	.054 (p = .423)
IOS_TOTAL IOS1	189**(p = .004)

^{*} Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 7 present the correlation between the variables. Firstly moderate positive correlation was identified between breakup distress (BDS_Total) and self-expansion (SEQ_Total) (r(225) = .239, p < .001). Additionally, a strong positive correlation was found between breakup distress and attachment (ECR_Total) (r(225) = .361, p < .001). Conversely, there was no significant correlation between breakup distress and attitude toward infidelity (ATIS_Total) (r(225) = .018, p = .791). However, a moderate positive correlation was observed between breakup distress and inclusion of other in the self (IOS_Total) (r(225) = .250, p < .001)(Table 7).

Regarding self-expansion (SEQ_Total), a moderate positive correlation was found with attachment (ECR_Total) (r(225) = .275, p < .001). No significant correlation was detected between self-expansion and attitude toward infidelity (ATIS_Total) (r(225) = -.092, p = .17). Nevertheless, a moderate positive correlation was observed between self-expansion and inclusion of other in the self (IOS_Total) (r(225) = .313, p < .001)(Table 7).

Concerning attachment (ECR_Total), a significant negative correlation was identified with attitude toward infidelity (ATIS_Total) (r(225) = -.187, p = .005). Additionally, a moderate positive correlation was found between attachment and inclusion of other in the self (IOS Total) (r(225) = .165, p = .013)(Table 7).

Finally, no significant correlation was observed between attitude toward infidelity (ATIS_Total) and inclusion of other in the self (IOS_Total) (r(225) = .028, p = .673)(Table 7).

Table 7

Correlation between variables

Variables	1	2	3	4	5
1. BDS_total	1				
2. SEQ_Total	.239**	1			
3. ECR_Total	.361**	.275**	1		
4. ATIS_Total	018	092	187**	1	
5. IOS_Total	.250**	.313**	.165*	028	1

^{**} Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

In this study, we examined significant differences between men and women in levels of breakup distress (measured by the BDS scale), self-expansion (measured by the SEQ scale), experiences in close relationships (measured by the ECR scale), attitudes toward infidelity (measured by the ATIS scale), and inclusion of other in the self (measured by the IOS scale)(Table8).

For the BDS scale, no significant difference was found between men (M = 2.55, SD = 0.78) and women (M = 2.58, SD = 0.84), t(22) = -0.26, p = .80, d = -0.04. Similarly, no significant difference was observed for the SEQ scale between men (M = 4.41, SD = 1.49) and women (M = 4.22, SD = 1.41), t(22) = 0.91, p = .37, d = 0.14(Table 8).

However, significant differences were identified for the ECR scale, where women (M = 5.03, SD = 0.92) scored significantly higher than men (M = 4.57, SD = 1.39), t(22) = -2.86, p = .01, d = -0.44. For the ATIS scale, no significant difference was found between men (M = 1.43, SD = 0.62) and women (M = 1.35, SD = 0.63), t(22) = 0.86, p = .39, d = 0.13. Similarly, no significant difference was observed for the IOS scale between men (M = 3.74, SD = 1.71) and women (M = 3.60, SD = 1.82), t(22) = 0.52, p = .61, d = 0.08 (Table 8).

^{*} Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

 Table 8

 Differences according to gender

	Sex	N	M	SD	t	df	p	d
BDS Total	Male	57	2.55	0.78	26	22	.80	-,04
	Female	168	2.58	0.84				
SEQ Total	Male	57	4.41	1.49	.91	22	.37	.14
	Female	168	4.22	1.41				
ECR Total	Male	57	4.57	1.39	-2.86	22	.01	44
	Female	168	5.03	0.92				
ATIS Total	Male	57	1.43	0.62	.86	22	.39	.13
	Female	168	1.35	0.63				
IOS TOTAL	Male	57	3.74	1.71	.52	22	.61	.08
	Female	168	3.60	1.82				

Note. N = frequencies; M = mean; SD = standard deviation; t = t-test; df = dregrees of freedom; p = p-value; d = Cohen's d

An ANOVA was conducted to determine whether there are statistically significant differences in the psychological measures (BDS_Total, SEQ_Total, ECR_Total, ATIS_Total, and IOS_Total) based on who ended the relationship. The groups compared were those who had their partner end the relationship ("The other"), those who ended the relationship themselves ("Me"), and those who mutually decided to end the relationship ("Both"). This analysis helps to understand how the role in ending the relationship influences various psychological outcomes, allowing us to see if the distress, self-expansion, attachment

experiences, attitudes toward infidelity, and inclusion of the other in the self-differ significantly across these groups (Table 9).

Table 9 *Anova for who Ended the Relationship*

Measure	Group	N	Mean	SD	Source	df	Z	Sig.	Etat Square
BDS_Total	The other	133	2.83	.74	Between groups	2	19.84	.000	.15
	Me	56	2.08	.77	Within groups	222			
	Both	36	2.42	.85					
SEQ_Total	The other	133	4.42	1.47	Between groups	2	3.55	.030	.03
	Me	56	3.38	1.24	Within groups	222			
	Both	36	4.37	1.46					
ECR_Total	The other	133	5.07	.98	Between groups	2	4.12	.018	.04
	Me	56	4.60	1.06	Within groups	222			
	Both	36	4.84	1.33					
ATIS_Total	The other	133	1.29	.51	Between groups	2	3.03	.050	.03
	Me	56	1.52	.78	Within groups	222			
	Both	36	1.44	.70					
IOS_TOTAL	The other	133	3.92	1.77	Between groups	2	5.03	.007	.04
	Me	56	3.39	1.78	Within groups	222			
	Both	36	2.94	1.67	(1)(0)(1) (11 4777		

Note: Table X presents the results of the analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the variable "Who Ended the Relationship". The measures BDS_Total, SEQ_Total, ECR_Total, ATIS_Total, and IOS_TOTAL are analyzed across the groups "The other", "Me", and "Both". For each measure, the data include the number of samples (N), mean scores (Mean), and standard deviations (SD) for each group. ANOVA results indicate between-groups sources of variation, degrees of freedom (df), F-values (Z), significance levels (Sig.), and effect sizes (Eta Square).

For the analysis of variance (ANOVA) on the variable "Who Ended the Relationship," significant differences were found among groups across several psychological measures. For BDS_Total, there was a significant difference among the groups "The other," "Me," and "Both" 28

 $(F(2, 222) = 19.84, p < .001, \eta^2 = 0.15)$. Mean post-breakup distress scores (BDS) varied between 2.08 (Me) and 2.83 (The other), with a mean of 2.42 for the Both group. Regarding SEQ_Total, there was also a significant difference among groups $(F(2, 222) = 3.55, p = .030, \eta^2 = 0.03)$. Means for self-expansion (SEQ) were 3.38 (Me), 4.42 (The other), and 4.37 (Both) (Table 9).

For ECR_Total, significant differences among groups were found (F(2, 222) = 4.12, p = .018, $\eta^2 = 0.04$). Mean scores for experiences in close relationships (ECR) ranged between 4.60 (Me), 5.07 (The other), and 4.84 (Both) (Table 9).

Regarding ATIS_Total, no significant differences were observed among groups (F(2, 222) = 3.03, p = .050, $\eta^2 = 0.03$). Mean scores for attitudes towards infidelity (ATIS) were 1.52 (Me), 1.29 (The other), and 1.44 (Both) (Table 9).

For IOS_Total, significant differences were found among groups (F(2, 222) = 5.03, p = .007, $\eta^2 = 0.04$). Mean scores for inclusion of the other in the self (IOS) were 3.39 (Me), 3.92 (The other), and 2.94 (Both) (Table 9).

Discussion

The majority of study participants were women, which aligns with a common trend in relationship research where women are often overrepresented. This demographic distribution is consistent with findings reported by Fagundes et al. (2013) and Rosenthal et al. (2015), who also observed a higher proportion of women in their samples, reflecting a widespread trend in this field of research. Participants' ages varied widely, ranging from 18 to 68 years old, with a mean age of 34 years. This age diversity within the sample indicates a varied representation of different age cohorts. This diversity can influence study outcomes by allowing for a more

nuanced exploration of emotional and behavioral responses to breakup, taking into account varied perspectives and experiences based on age.

Marital status revealed that a significant majority were not in a relationship at the time of the study, including individuals who were single, separated, divorced, or widowed. This contrasts sharply with the lower percentage of participants currently in a romantic relationship, whether married or cohabiting.

Demographic variables such as age and education level showed significant but moderate correlations with post-breakup distress. Age was positively correlated with post-breakup distress, indicating that older participants tended to report slightly higher levels of distress following a breakup. A study by Sbarra et al. (2011) found that older adults reported greater emotional distress following a divorce compared to younger adults. The research suggested that as people age, they may have more entrenched social networks and rely more heavily on their partner for emotional support, making the breakup more distressing. Conversely, education level showed a negative correlation with post-breakup distress, suggesting that participants with higher education levels experienced less distress. Literature indicates shows that individuals with higher levels of education tend to manage separation more effectively (Amato, 2014 & Perrig-Chiello et al., 2014).

When examining the transition to new relationships after a breakup, a large majority of participants had not started a new relationship. Among those who did, the timing varied considerably. Participants who had not entered new relationships reported higher levels of post-breakup distress, less positive experiences in close relationships, and a lower sense of inclusion of the other in the self.

The study by Bühler et al. (2021) showed that individuals who are not in a relationship tend to score lower on the IOS scale, indicating a lesser integration of the partner into their self-concept. Lower IOS scores can mean a more autonomous identity, which can be beneficial for personal development and independent decision-making. The literature highlights the importance of initiating relationships to establish well-functioning communal bonds, including both friendships and romantic relationships (Clark et al., 2019). Lewandowski and Bizzoco (2007) also reported that starting a new relationship can help alleviate post-breakup distress by providing emotional support and a sense of belonging. The study by Shimek and Bello (2014) suggests that rebound relationships can offer some level of emotional respite or distraction, thereby reducing post-breakup distress.

The negative correlations found between the time elapsed since the breakup and certain key psychological variables provide valuable insights into the emotional recovery process after a breakup. Specifically, a strong negative correlation between the time elapsed since the breakup and breakup distress suggests that over time, individuals experience less emotional distress related to the separation. This supports the idea that the emotional impact of a breakup diminishes over time as individuals gradually adjust to life without their former partner (Sbarra & Emery, 2005). Additionally, the negative correlation between the time elapsed since the breakup and self-expansion shows that over time, individuals perceive less self-expansion related to their past relationship. This could indicate that individuals begin to reintegrate their personal identity, becoming less dependent on their past relationship as a source of personal growth.

The negative correlation with attachment suggests that individuals who have had more time since the breakup also report less anxiety and avoidance related to attachment. This is consistent with attachment theory, which posits that over time, individuals become less 31

concerned with emotional intimacy or less avoidant as they move on from their past relationship (Bowlby, 2008; Fraley & Shaver, 2000).

It is also noteworthy that the negative correlation between the duration since the breakup and the inclusion of the other in the self suggests that individuals gradually disintegrate their ex-partner's identity from their own identity over time. This finding reinforces the idea that as time passes, the former partner is perceived less as an integral part of the individual's identity (Aron et al., 1992; Lewandowski & Bizzoco, 2007; Battaglia et al., 1998).

This study explored the impact of various psychological factors - self-expansion, attitudes towards infidelity, inclusion of the other in the self, and attachment styles - on distress following a romantic breakup. The findings provide valuable insights into how these factors contribute to individuals' emotional responses during post-breakup periods.

Firstly, the results reveal that relationships characterized by self-expansion (SEQ) are associated with higher levels of emotional distress following a breakup. This finding contrasts with previous research suggesting that self-expansion typically correlates with increased emotional resilience (Aron et al., 2000). These results suggest that perceiving a relationship as promoting personal growth can lead to increased emotional challenges during the breakup process, contrary to the initial idea that self-expansion might facilitate better emotional resilience. Additionally, the Literature suggest that individuals who perceive their relationship as fostering self-expansion also tend to integrate their partner more deeply into their self-concept (Aron & Aron, 1996; Aron et al., 1998; Aron et al., 2004).

Secondly, attachment styles (ECR) emerged as another critical factor influencing postbreakup distress. Higher levels of attachment anxiety and avoidance were associated with increased distress levels, supporting previous research linking insecure attachment styles to difficulties in coping with relationship dissolution (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2016). Individuals with higher attachment anxiety or avoidance may struggle more with feelings of loss and separation. Lafontaine et al. (2016)'s study corroborates previous findings indicating a link between separation anxiety and post-breakup emotional distress.

Thirdly, attitudes towards infidelity (ATIS) were examined in terms of their correlation with emotional distress after a breakup. The results showed that moral beliefs about infidelity were not significantly related to the distress experienced after a breakup, and they did not differ significantly. This suggests that while moral convictions may influence overall relationship dynamics, they may not directly impact immediate emotional adjustment after a separation. Nonetheless, a recent investigation conducted by Tran et al. (2023) revealed that serious issues with a former partner, such as infidelity or physical violence, were associated with more positive emotional states regarding the separation, increased relief, but also heightened anger. This suggests that specific experiences with a previous partner can significantly affect emotional responses post-breakup, regardless of moral attitudes towards infidelity.

On the other hand, Arezoo Haseli et al. (2019) provided a different perspective by showing that there was no clear consistency between microsystem variables (such as communication quality, relationship satisfaction, etc.) and actual engagement in infidelity. This observation implies that complex individual and relational factors may unexpectedly influence the decision to engage in infidelity, despite personal moral attitudes.

To deepen our understanding, further exploration into how these moral attitudes shape behaviors and decisions in relationships, especially regarding emotional experiences after a breakup, would be valuable. Finally, the inclusion of the other in the self (IOS), a concept indicating the extent to which individuals perceive their partners as part of their own identity, exhibited notable correlations with levels of distress experienced post-breakup.

This finding underscores the profound emotional impact of relationship dissolution on individuals who view their partners as essential components of their identity. It suggests that the process of separating from someone deeply integrated into one's self-concept can be particularly challenging and emotionally taxing. These insights align closely with previous research conducted by Boelen, P. A., et al. (2010), which similarly highlighted the heightened vulnerability to distress among individuals who strongly intertwine their sense of self with their romantic partners.

Regarding the role of the breakup initiator, the results indicate that it is closely related to the distress experienced after the separation. Specifically, individuals whose partner initiated the breakup experience more marked emotional distress compared to those who initiated the breakup themselves or made a joint decision. This finding aligns with research indicating that non-initiators of a breakup often experience higher levels of post-breakup distress, feeling emotionally rejected (Field, 2011, 2017; Field et al., 2009; Leary, 2001; Perilloux & Buss, 2008).

Concerning the inclusion of the other in the self, as measured by the IOS scale, the results show that this factor is also affected by the role of the breakup initiator. People whose partner initiated the breakup exhibit higher levels of including the other in their own identity compared to those who initiated the breakup themselves or made a joint decision.

Furthermore, it is indicated that individuals whose partner initiated the breakup show higher levels of self-expansion compared to those who initiated the breakup themselves or those who made a mutual decision to end the relationship.

Finally, the results suggest that individuals whose partner initiated the breakup display higher levels of attachment anxiety and avoidance compared to those who initiated the breakup themselves or decided mutually. This suggests that individuals with more anxious or avoidant attachment styles may react more intensely to a breakup initiated by the other. This is consistent with previous research by Tran et al. (2023), confirmed that the initiator's role in the breakup is associated with more positive and less negative emotional outcomes after separation.

Limitations

While this study offers important insights, it is crucial to recognize its various limitations. Firstly, the majority of participants were women, which reflects a common trend in relationship research but may limit the generalizability of findings to male populations. Future studies could benefit from more balanced gender representation to better understand potential differences in emotional responses to breakup between genders.

Secondly, the study's reliance on self-reported data introduces the possibility of response bias. Participants may have underreported or overreported certain behaviors or emotions due to social desirability or memory biases. Utilizing multiple methods, such as behavioral observations or interviews, could provide a more comprehensive understanding of post-breakup experiences.

thirdly, while the study explored various psychological factors such as self-expansion, attachment styles, and attitudes towards infidelity, other potentially influential variables (e.g., 35

cultural differences, personality traits) were not extensively examined. Future research could consider these factors to provide a more holistic understanding of post-breakup distress.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study has shed light on the intricate relationships between psychological factors and post-breakup distress. It has underscored the significance of variables such as self-expansion, attachment styles, and the integration of the partner into one's self-concept in shaping individuals' emotional responses following romantic relationship dissolution.

Understanding these dynamics is crucial for developing targeted interventions aimed at supporting individuals during this challenging period. Encouraging strategies that reduce the integration of the other into the self and promote more secure attachment styles could help alleviate post-breakup distress and facilitate smoother emotional transitions.

Moreover, while this study provides valuable insights, there remains ample room for further exploration. Future research could delve deeper into cultural influences, personality factors, and longitudinal studies to capture the evolving nature of post-breakup experiences over time. By continuing to investigate these facets, researchers can better tailor interventions and support systems that promote resilience and emotional well-being in the aftermath of romantic relationship endings.

Bibliography

Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. N. (1978). *Patterns of Attachment: A Psychological Study of the Strange Situation*. http://ci.nii.ac.jp/ncid/BB19374390

- Amato, P. R. (2014). The Consequences of Divorce for Adults and Children: An update.

 Drustvena Istrazivanja, 23(1), 5–24. https://doi.org/10.5559/di.23.1.01
- Aragón, R. S., & Cruz, R. (2014). Causas y Caracterización de las Etapas del Duelo Romántico.

 **Acta De Investigación Psicológica. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2007-4719(14)70378-3
- Aron, A., Aron, E. N., & Smollan, D. (1992). Inclusion of Other in the Self Scale and the structure of interpersonal closeness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63(4), 596–612. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.63.4.596
- Aron, A., Aron, E. N., Tudor, M., & Nelson, G. C. (1991). Close relationships as including other in the self. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60(2), 241–253. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.60.2.241
- Aron, A., Lewandowski, G. W., Mashek, D., & Aron, E. N. (2013). The Self-Expansion Model of Motivation and Cognition in Close Relationships. In *Oxford University Press eBooks*. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195398694.013.0005
- Aron, A., McLaughlin-Volpe, T., Mashek, D., Lewandowski, G. W., Wright, S. J., & Aron, E. N. (2004). Including others in the self. *European Review of Social Psychology*, *15*(1), 101–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463280440000008
- Aron, A., Melinat, E., Aron, E. N., Vallone, R. P., & Bator, R. J. (1997). The Experimental Generation of Interpersonal Closeness: A Procedure and Some Preliminary Findings.

 *Personality** and Social Psychology** Bulletin, 23(4), 363–377.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167297234003

- Aron, A., Norman, C., Aron, E. N., McKenna, C., & Heyman, R. E. (2000). Couples' shared participation in novel and arousing activities and experienced relationship quality.

 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 78(2), 273–284.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.2.273
- Aron, A., Paris, M., & Aron, E. N. (1995a). Falling in love: Prospective studies of self-concept change. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(6), 1102–1112. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.6.1102
- Aron, A., Paris, M., & Aron, E. N. (1995b). Falling in love: Prospective studies of self-concept change. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(6), 1102–1112. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.6.1102
- Aron, E. N., & Aron, A. (1996). Love and expansion of the self: The state of the model.

 *Personal Relationships, 3(1), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.1996.tb00103.x
- Atkins, D. C., Baucom, D. H., & Jacobson, N. S. (2001). Understanding infidelity: Correlates in a national random sample. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *15*(4), 735–749. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.15.4.735
- Bartholomew, K., & Horowitz, L. N. (1991). Attachment styles among young adults: A test of a four-category model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61(2), 226–244. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.61.2.226
- Battaglia, D. M., Richard, F. D., Datteri, D. L., & Lord, C. G. (1998). Breaking Up is (Relatively) Easy to Do: A Script for the Dissolution of Close Relationships. *Journal of*

- Social and Personal Relationships, 15(6), 829–845. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407598156007
- Blow, A. J., & Hartnett, K. (2005). INFIDELITY IN COMMITTED RELATIONSHIPS I: A

 METHODOLOGICAL REVIEW. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 31(2), 183–
 216. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2005.tb01555.x
- Boelen, P. A., & Reijntjes, A. (2009). Negative cognitions in emotional problems following romantic relationship break-ups. *Stress and Health*, 25(1), 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.1219
- Boelen, P. A., & Van Den Hout, M. A. (2010). Inclusion of Other in the Self and Breakup-Related Grief Following Relationship Dissolution. *Journal of Loss & Trauma*, 15(6), 534–547. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2010.519274
- Boelen, P. A., Van Den Hout, M. A., & Van Den Bout, J. (2006). A Cognitive-Behavioral Conceptualization of Complicated Grief. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 13(2), 109–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2850.2006.00013.x
- Bowlby, E. J. M. (2008). Loss Sadness and Depression: Attachment and Loss Volume 3.

 Random House.
- Bowlby, J. (1969a). *Attachment and Loss*. http://www.abebe.org.br/wp-content/uploads/John-Bowlby-Loss-Sadness-And-Depression-Attachment-and-Loss-1982.pdf
- Bowlby, J. (1969b). Attachment and Loss.

- Branand, B., Mashek, D., & Aron, A. (2019). Pair-Bonding as Inclusion of Other in the Self: A

 Literature Review. Frontiers in Psychology, 10.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02399
- Brand, R. J., Markey, C. N., Mills, A., & Hodges, S. D. (2007). Sex Differences in Self-reported Infidelity and its Correlates. *Sex Roles*, *57*(1–2), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-007-9221-5
- Brennan, A., Stewart, H., Jamhour, N. J., Businelle, M. S., & Gouvier, W. D. (2006). An Examination of the Retrospective Recall of Psychological Distress. *Journal of Forensic Neuropsychology*, 4(4), 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1300/j151v04n04_06
- Brennan, K., Clark, C. D., & Shaver, P. R. (1998). Self-report measurement of adult attachment:

 An integrative overview. *Ttachment Theory and Close Relationships*.

 https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1997-36873-002
- Bretherton, I. (1985). Attachment Theory: Retrospect and Prospect. *Monographs of the Society* for Research in Child Development, 50(1/2), 3. https://doi.org/10.2307/3333824
- Bronfman, G., Ladd-Luthringshauser, H., Goodman, L., & Sockol, L. E. (2016). Predictors of Breakup Distress Among Residential College Students. *The College Student Affairs Journal*, 34(3), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1353/csj.2016.0015
- Bühler, J. L., Krauss, S., & Orth, U. (2021). Development of relationship satisfaction across the life span: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *147*(10), 1012–1053. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000342

- Buss, D. M., Larsen, R. W., Westen, D., & Semmelroth, J. (1992). Sex Differences in Jealousy: Evolution, Physiology, and Psychology. *Psychological Science*, *3*(4), 251–256. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.1992.tb00038.x
- Buunk, B. P., & Bakker, A. B. (1995). Extradyadic sex: The role of descriptive and injunctive norms. *Journal of Sex Research*, 32(4), 313–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499509551804
- Byers, E. S. (1996). How Well Does the Traditional Sexual Script Explain Sexual Coercion?

 **J.Psychol Human Sex*, 8(1–2), 7–25. https://doi.org/10.1300/j056v08n01_02
- Cassidy, J., & Kobak, R. R. (1988). Avoidance and its relation to other defensive processes. *Clinical Implications of Attachment*. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1987-98825-009
- Caughlin, J. P., & Huston, T. L. (2006). The Affective Structure of Marriage. In *Cambridge University Press eBooks* (pp. 131–156). https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511606632.009
- Chung, M. P., Farmer, S. M., Grant, K., Newton, R., Payne, S., Perry, M. J., Saunders, J., Smith, C., & Stone, N. (2002). Self-esteem, personality and post traumatic stress symptoms following the dissolution of a dating relationship. *Stress and Health*, 18(2), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.929
- Clark, M. S., Beck, L. A., & Aragón, O. R. (2019). Relationship initiation: Bridging the gap between initial attraction and well-functioning communal relationships. In *American Psychological Association eBooks* (pp. 409–425). https://doi.org/10.1037/0000099-023

- Coifman, K. G., & Bonanno, G. A. (2010). When distress does not become depression: Emotion context sensitivity and adjustment to bereavement. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 119(3), 479–490. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020113
- Davis, D., Shaver, P. R., & Vernon, M. W. (2003). Physical, Emotional, and Behavioral Reactions to Breaking Up: The Roles of Gender, Age, Emotional Involvement, and Attachment Style. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 29(7), 871–884. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167203029007006
- Del Palacio-Gonzalez, A., Clark, D., & O'Sullivan, L. F. (2017). Cognitive processing in the aftermath of relationship dissolution: Associations with concurrent and prospective distress and posttraumatic growth. *Stress and Health*, 33(5), 540–548. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2738
- DiFilippo, J. M., & Overholser, J. C. (2000). Suicidal Ideation in Adolescent Psychiatric Inpatients as Associated With Depression and Attachment Relationships. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 29(2), 155–166. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp2902_2
- Donarelli, Z., Kivlighan, D. M., Allegra, A., & Lo Coco, G. (2016). How do individual attachment patterns of both members of couples affect their perceived infertility stress?

 An actor–partner interdependence analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 92, 63–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.12.023
- Eisenman, R. (2006). Attachment and Romantic Relationships. *Psyccritiques*, 51(40). https://doi.org/10.1037/a0003966

- Eisma, M. C., Tõnus, D., & De Jong, P. J. (2021). Desired attachment and breakup distress relate to automatic approach of the ex-partner. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 101713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2021.101713
- Fagundes, C. P. (2012). Getting over you: Contributions of attachment theory for postbreakup emotional adjustment. *Personal Relationships*, 19(1), 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2010.01336.x
- Fagundes, C. P., & Diamond, L. M. (2013). Intimate relationships. In *Handbooks of sociology* and social research (pp. 371–411). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-6772-0_13
- Feeney, J. A., & Fitzgerald, J. (2019). Attachment, conflict and relationship quality: laboratory-based and clinical insights. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 25, 127–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.04.002
- Field, T. (2017). Romantic Breakup Distress, Betrayal and Heartbreak: A Review. *International Journal of Behavioral Research & Psychology*, 5(2), 217–225, 217–225. https://doi.org/10.19070/2332-3000-1700038
- Field, T., Delgado, M., Pelaez, M., Deeds, O., & Delgado, J. (2009). Breakup Distress scale [Dataset]. In *PsycTESTS Dataset*. https://doi.org/10.1037/t66170-000
- Field, T., Diego, M., Pelaez, M., Deeds, O., & Delgado, J. (2009). Breakup distress in university students. *PubMed*, *44*(176), 705–727. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20432597
- Field, T., Diego, M., Pelaez, M., Deeds, O., & Delgado, J. (2011). Breakup Distress in University Students: A Review. *College Student Journal*, 45(3), 461. http://psycnet.apa.org/record/2011-24677-002

- Field, T., Diego, M., Pelaez, M., Deeds, O., & Delgado, J. (2013). Negative Emotions and Behaviors Are Markers of Breakup Distress. *College Student Journal*, 47(3), 516–523. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1022683
- Fincham, F. D., & Beach, S. R. H. (2010). Of Memes and Marriage: Toward a Positive Relationship Science. *Journal of Family Theory and Review*, 2(1), 4–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-2589.2010.00033.x
- Fisher, H. L., Brown, L. L., Aron, A., Strong, G., & Mashek, D. (2010). Reward, Addiction, and Emotion Regulation Systems Associated With Rejection in Love. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 104(1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00784.2009
- Fivecoat, H. C., Tomlinson, J., Aron, A., & Caprariello, P. A. (2015). Partner support for individual self-expansion opportunities. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 32(3), 368–385. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407514533767
- Forste, R., & Tanfer, K. (1996). Sexual Exclusivity among Dating, Cohabiting, and Married Women. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 58(1), 33. https://doi.org/10.2307/353375
- Fraley, R. C., & Shaver, P. R. (2000). Adult romantic attachment: theoretical developments, emerging controversies, and unanswered questions. *Review of General Psychology*, 4(2), 132–154. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.4.2.132
- Gächter, S., Starmer, C., & Tufano, F. (2015). Measuring the closeness of relationships: A comprehensive evaluation of the "Inclusion of the other in the self" scale. *PloS One*, 10(6), e0129478. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129478

- Glass, S. P., & Wright, T. W. (1992). Justifications for extramarital relationships: The association between attitudes, behaviors, and gender. *Journal of Sex Research*, 29(3), 361–387. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499209551654
- Gordon, C., & Baucom, D. H. (2009). Examining the individual within marriage: Personal strengths and relationship satisfaction. *Personal Relationships*, *16*(3), 421–435. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2009.01231.x
- Gordon, K. C., & Baucom, D. H. (1998). Understanding Betrayals in Marriage: A Synthesized Model of Forgiveness. *Family Process*, *37*(4), 425–449. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.1998.00425.x
- Gordon, K. C., & Baucom, D. H. (1999). A multitheoretical intervention for promoting recovery from extramarital affairs. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 6(4), 382–399. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.6.4.382
- Habibi, M., Alitabar, S. H. S., Pouravari, M., & Salehi, S. (2019). Reliability, validity and factor structure for the attitudes toward infidelity scale. *Journal of Research & Health*, *9*(4), 294–301. https://doi.org/10.29252/jrh.9.4.294
- Hackathorn, J., Mattingly, B. A., Clark, E. M., & Mattingly, M. J. B. (2011). Practicing what you preach: infidelity attitudes as a predictor of fidelity. *Current Psychology*, *30*(4), 299–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-011-9119-9
- Hansen, G. D. (1987). Extradyadic relations during courtship. *Journal of Sex Research*, 23(3), 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224498709551376

- Harris, C. R. (2004). The Evolution of Jealousy. *American Scientist*. https://doi.org/10.1511/2004.45.919
- Haseli, A., Shariati, M., Nazari, A. M., Keramat, A., & Emamian, M. H. (2019). Infidelity and its Associated Factors: A Systematic review. ~ *the & Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *16*(8), 1155–1169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsxm.2019.04.011
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. R. (1987). Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process.

 **Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 52(3), 511–524.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.3.511
- Jackman, M. (2014). Understanding the cheating heart: What determines infidelity intentions? Sexuality & Culture, 19(1), 72–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-014-9248-z
- Johnson, S. L. (2005). Broken Bonds. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 4(2–3), 17–29. https://doi.org/10.1300/j398v04n02_03
- Karreman, A., & Vingerhoets, A. J. J. M. (2012). Attachment and well-being: The mediating role of emotion regulation and resilience. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *53*(7), 821–826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2012.06.014
- Ketay, S., Beck, L. A., & Welker, K. M. (2020). Self-expansion: intergroup and sociocultural factors. In *Springer eBooks* (pp. 177–193). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-43747-3_11
- Knox, D., Zusman, M. E., Kaluzny, M., & Cooper, C. E. (2000). COLLEGE STUDENT RECOVERY FROM A BROKEN HEART. *College Student Journal*, 34(3), 322.

- https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1G1-66760549/college-student-recovery-from-a-broken-heart
- Lafontaine, M., Brassard, A., Lussier, Y., Valois, P., Shaver, P. R., & Johnson, S. L. (2016).

 Experiences in Close Relationships-12 [Dataset]. In *PsycTESTS Dataset*.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/t51913-000
- Lewandowski, G. W., & Bizzoco, N. M. (2007). Addition through subtraction: Growth following the dissolution of a low quality relationship. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 2(1), 40–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760601069234
- Lieberman, B. (1988). Extrapremarital intercourse: Attitudes toward a neglected sexual behavior. *Journal of Sex Research*, 24(1), 291–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224498809551427
- Low, N., Dugas, E. N., O'Loughlin, E. K., Rodriguez, D. A., Contreras, G., Chaiton, M., & O'Loughlin, J. (2012). Common stressful life events and difficulties are associated with mental health symptoms and substance use in young adolescents. *BMC Psychiatry*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244x-12-116
- Lukacs, V. A., & Quan-Haase, A. (2015). Romantic breakups on Facebook: new scales for studying post-breakup behaviors, digital distress, and surveillance. *Information, Communication* & *Society*, 18(5), 492–508. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118x.2015.1008540
- Lusterman, D. (2005). Marital Infidelity. *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy*, 4(2–3), 71–81. https://doi.org/10.1300/j398v04n02_07

- Maccallum, F., & Bryant, R. A. (2008). Self-defining memories in complicated grief. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 46(12), 1311–1315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2008.09.003
- Marshall, T. C., Bejanyan, K., & Ferenczi, N. (2013). Attachment Styles and Personal Growth following Romantic Breakups: The Mediating Roles of Distress, Rumination, and Tendency to Rebound. *PLOS ONE*, 8(9), e75161. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0075161
- Martire, L. M., Keefe, F. J., Schulz, R., Stephens, M. a. P., & Mogle, J. (2013). The impact of daily arthritis pain on spouse sleep. *Pain*, *154*(9), 1725–1731. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2013.05.020
- Mashek, D., & Aron, A. (2004). Handbook of Closeness and Intimacy. In *Psychology Press eBooks*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410610010
- Mashek, D. J., & Aron, A. (2004). Handbook of Closeness and Intimacy. Psychology Press.
- Mattingly, B. A., & Lewandowski, G. W. (2014). Broadening Horizons: Self-Expansion in Relational and Non-Relational Contexts. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 8(1), 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12080
- Mikulincer, M. (1995). Attachment style and the mental representation of the self. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(6), 1203–1215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.6.1203
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2003). The Attachment Behavioral System In Adulthood:

 Activation, Psychodynamics, And Interpersonal Processes. In *Advances in*

- *Experimental Social Psychology* (pp. 53–152). Elsevier BV. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-2601(03)01002-5
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2012). An attachment perspective on psychopathology. *World Psychiatry*, 11(1), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wpsyc.2012.01.003
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2016). *Attachment in Adulthood, Second Edition: Structure, Dynamics, and Change*. Guilford Publications.
- Miller, S. L., & Maner, J. K. (2009). Sex differences in response to sexual versus emotional infidelity: The moderating role of individual differences. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 46(3), 287–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2008.10.013
- Mirsu-Paun, A., & Oliver, J. L. (2017). How Much Does Love Really Hurt? A Meta-Analysis of the Association Between Romantic Relationship Quality, Breakups and Mental Health Outcomes in Adolescents and Young Adults. *Journal of Relationships Research*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1017/jrr.2017.6
- Myers, D. G. (2011). *Psychology*. Worth Publishers.
- Paolini, S., Wright, S. C., Dys-Steenbergen, O., & Favara, I. (2016). Self-Expansion questionnaire: Broader Social Relationships version [Dataset]. In *PsycTESTS Dataset*. https://doi.org/10.1037/t57439-000
- Pascuzzo, K., Cyr, C., & Moss, E. (2013). Longitudinal association between adolescent attachment, adult romantic attachment, and emotion regulation strategies. *Attachment & Human Development*, *15*(1), 83–103. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2013.745713

- Perilloux, C., & Buss, D. M. (2008). Breaking up Romantic Relationships: Costs Experienced and Coping Strategies Deployed. *Evolutionary Psychology*, *6*(1), 147470490800600. https://doi.org/10.1177/147470490800600119
- Perrig-Chiello, P., Hutchison, S., & Morselli, D. (2014). Patterns of psychological adaptation to divorce after a long-term marriage. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 32(3), 386–405. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407514533769
- Petersen, J. D., & Hyde, J. S. (2010). A meta-analytic review of research on gender differences in sexuality, 1993–2007. *Psychological Bulletin*, 136(1), 21–38. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017504
- Pietromonaco, P. R., & Beck, L. A. (2019). Adult attachment and physical health. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 25, 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.04.004
- Pittman, F. S. (1989). Private Lies: Infidelity and the Betrayal of Intimacy.
- Puaud, D. (2019). De quoi l'inclusion est-elle le nom? *Pensée Plurielle*, *n*° 49(1), 25–36. https://doi.org/10.3917/pp.049.0025
- Reissman, C. B., Aron, A., & Bergen, M. R. (1993). Shared Activities and Marital Satisfaction:

 Causal Direction and Self-Expansion versus Boredom. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 10(2), 243–254. https://doi.org/10.1177/026540759301000205
- Rhoades, G. K., Dush, C. M. K., Atkins, D. C., Stanley, S. D., & Markman, H. J. (2011).

 Breaking up is hard to do: The impact of unmarried relationship dissolution on mental health and life satisfaction. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 25(3), 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023627

- Rohner, R. P. (2016). Introduction to Interpersonal Acceptance-Rejection Theory (IPARTheory) and Evidence. *Online Readings in Psychology and Culture*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.9707/2307-0919.1055
- Romero-Canyas, R., Downey, G., Berenson, K. R., Ayduk, O., & Kang, N. J. (2010). Rejection Sensitivity and the Rejection-Hostility Link in Romantic Relationships. *Journal of Personality*, 78(1), 119–148. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00611.x
- Rosenstein, D. S., & Horowitz, H. A. (1996). Adolescent attachment and psychopathology.

 Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 64(2), 244–253.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.64.2.244
- Rosenthal, L., & Starks, T. J. (2015). Relationship stigma and relationship outcomes in interracial and same-sex relationships: Examination of sources and buffers. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 29(6), 818–830. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000116
- Saffrey, C., & Ehrenberg, M. F. (2007). When thinking hurts: Attachment, rumination, and postrelationship adjustment. *Personal Relationships*, 14(3), 351–368. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2007.00160.x
- Sailor, J. L. (2015). A Phenomenological Study of Falling Out of Romantic Love. *The Qualitative Report*. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2013.1521
- Sbarra, D. A., & Emery, R. E. (2005). The emotional sequelae of nonmarital relationship dissolution: Analysis of change and intraindividual variability over time. *Personal Relationships*, *12*(2), 213–232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1350-4126.2005.00112.x

- Sbarra, D. A., Law, R. W., & Portley, R. M. (2011). Divorce and death. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 6(5), 454–474. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691611414724
- Shaver, P. R., & Clark, C. D. (1994). The psychodynamics of adult romantic attachment. In *American Psychological Association eBooks* (pp. 105–156). https://doi.org/10.1037/11100-004
- Shimek, C., & Bello, R. (2014). Coping with Break-Ups: Rebound Relationships and Gender Socialization. *Social Sciences*, *3*(1), 24–43. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci3010024
- Shulman, S., Seiffge-Krenke, I., Scharf, M., Lev-Ari, L., & Levy, G. (2017). Adolescent Depressive Symptoms and Breakup Distress During Early Emerging Adulthood. *Emerging Adulthood*, 5(4), 251–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167696817698900
- Silva, A. M. G., Saraiva, M., Albuquerque, P. B., & Arantes, J. (2017). Relationship quality influences attitudes toward and perceptions of infidelity. *Personal Relationships*, 24(4), 718–728. https://doi.org/10.1111/pere.12205
- Simpson, J. A., & Rholes, W. S. (2017). Adult attachment, stress, and romantic relationships.

 *Current Opinion in Psychology, 13, 19–24.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.04.006
- Simpson, J. A., & Rholes, W. S. (2019). Adult attachment orientations and well-being during the transition to parenthood. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 25, 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.02.019
- Sinclair, H. C., Ladny, R. T., & Lyndon, A. E. (2011). Adding insult to injury: effects of interpersonal rejection types, rejection sensitivity, and self-regulation on obsessive 52

- relational intrusion. *Aggressive Behavior*, *37*(6), 503–520. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20412
- Sprecher, S., Felmlee, D., Metts, S., Fehr, B., & Vanni, D. (1998). Factors Associated with Distress Following the Breakup of a Close Relationship. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *15*(6), 791–809. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407598156005
- Tasca, G. A., Brugnera, A., Baldwin, D., Carlucci, S., Compare, A., Balfour, L., Proulx, G., Gick, M., & Lafontaine, M. (2017). Reliability and validity of the Experiences in Close Relationships Scale-12: Attachment dimensions in a clinical sample with eating disorders. [~] the αInternational Journal of Eating Disorders/International Journal of Eating Disorders, 51(1), 18–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22807
- Tashiro, T., & Frazier, P. A. (2003). "I'll never be in a relationship like that again": Personal growth following romantic relationship breakups. *Personal Relationships*, *10*(1), 113–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6811.00039
- Thompson, A. W. (1984). Emotional and Sexual Components of Extramarital Relations. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 46(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.2307/351861
- Tran, K., Castiglioni, L., Walper, S., & Lux, U. (2023). Resolving relationship dissolution—
 What predicts emotional adjustment after breakup? *Family Process*.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12914
- Treas, J., & Giesen, D. (2000). Sexual Infidelity Among Married and Cohabiting Americans.

 *Journal of Marriage and Family, 62(1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.00048.x

- Treger, S., Sprecher, S., & Erber, R. (2013). Laughing and liking: Exploring the interpersonal effects of humor use in initial social interactions. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.1962
- Tsapelas, I., Aron, A., & Orbuch, T. L. (2009). Marital Boredom Now Predicts Less Satisfaction 9 Years Later. *Psychological Science*, 20(5), 543–545. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02332.x
- Walsh, C. M., & Neff, L. M. (2018). We're better when we blend: The benefits of couple identity fusion. *Self and Identity*, *17*(5), 587–603. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2018.1430062
- Warach, B., & Josephs, L. (2021). The aftershocks of infidelity: a review of infidelity-based attachment trauma. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, *36*(1), 68–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681994.2019.1577961
- Waters, E., Merrick, S., Treboux, D., Crowell, J. A., & Albersheim, L. (2000). Attachment Security in Infancy and Early Adulthood: A Twenty-Year Longitudinal Study. *Child Development*, 71(3), 684–689. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00176
- Waugh, C. E., & Fredrickson, B. L. (2006). Nice to know you: Positive emotions, self—other overlap, and complex understanding in the formation of a new relationship. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *1*(2), 93–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760500510569
- Weinstein, N., Rodriguez, L. M., Knee, C. R., & Kumashiro, M. (2016). Self-determined selfother overlap: Interacting effects on partners' perceptions of support and well-being in

- close relationships. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 65, 130–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2016.10.011
- Whitty, M. T. (2003). Pushing the Wrong Buttons: Men's and Women's Attitudes toward Online and Offline Infidelity. *Cyber Psychology & Behavior*, *6*(6), 569–579. https://doi.org/10.1089/109493103322725342
- Wiederman, M. W. (1997). Extramarital sex: Prevalence and correlates in a national survey. *Journal of Sex Research*, 34(2), 167–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499709551881
- Wilson, K., Mattingly, B. A., Clark, E. M., Weidler, D. J., & Bequette, A. W. (2011). The Gray Area: Exploring Attitudes Toward Infidelity and the Development of the Perceptions of Dating Infidelity Scale. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *151*(1), 63–86. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224540903366750
- Zilbergeld, B. (1999). The New Male Sexuality: The Truth About Men, Sex, and Pleasure.

 Bantam.